1949

Russell W. Young and Saba O. Young v. Elvis Hansen and Bonnie Hansen : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a suit for breach of contract. The plaintiffs allege in their amended complaint (T. 13 to 17) in substance that:

1. The defendants are owners of certain real estate at 220 West Central Avenue in Salt Lake County, Utah.
2. The said property is a farm. About May 14, 1948, plaintiffs and defendants entered into an oral partnership agreement wherein plaintiffs were to move onto said farm and

occupy an apartment in the home of defendants thereon. Plaintiffs were to pay \$9,000.00 for one-half interest in said venture. They were to raise cattle, chickens, pigs, rabbits, etc. The said \$9,000.00 was to be paid when the home of plaintiffs at 3348 South State Street was sold. But if it was not sold by November 15, 1948, then they were to pay defendants \$50.00 per month until the house was sold. It was agreed they would put in writing the details and terms at a future date. The defendants had a mortgage of about \$2,000.00 on the farm. Defendants were to pay said mortgage and deed to plaintiffs an undivided one-half interest in the real estate and give them a bill of sale for an undivided one-half interest in all the personal property on the farm.

3. In July, 1948, plaintiffs mortgaged their home and paid defendants the sum of \$4,000.00 cash and certain credits for \$60.00 making \$4,060.00 credit. It was agreed that if the home of plaintiffs was not sold by November 15, 1948, that all the partnership papers and other necessary papers would be drawn up at that time so that there would be a definite understanding in writing between them. In accordance with the oral partnership agreement, the plaintiff moved from their home on State Street about August 1, 1948, to the defendants' property, put their home up for sale, stood half the expense of operating the farm, advanced money for the purchase of grain, sand and gravel, lumber and building materials, payment of taxes and other things together with putting about 400 hours of labor upon said farm. When November 15 came along, defendants continued to delay the executing of the agreement and the delivery of the warranty deed and bill of sale.

4. About February 15, 1949, although plaintiffs at all times have been ready and willing to perform, defendants refused to execute the said deed, bill of sale or partnership written agreement and told plaintiffs they would not enter into any agreement whatsoever and requested plaintiffs to leave their premises.

5. As damages for the breach the plaintiffs set up the \$4,060.00 paid, together with interest on it, labor put on the premises by plaintiff, R. W. Young, in the sum of \$472.50, moving to and from the premises \$100.00, money advanced for purchase of a saw \$53.00, money advanced for sundry articles detailed in the amended complaint totaling \$161.37, money advanced for purchase of a trailer \$16.00, money advanced on defendants' taxes \$37.01, further cash advanced to defendants \$53.50 all totaling \$5,145.93.

The prayer asked for judgment in that amount and for general relief.

Defendants answered that they did agree to sell the one-half interest for \$9,000.00 and gave plaintiffs credit for the \$4,060.00 and that they engaged with said plaintiffs in a joint enterprise on the farm and agreed to enter into a written partnership agreement. Defendants further allege that the whole of the \$9,000.00 was to be paid *on or before* November 15, 1948, and denied that it was to be paid in any other manner. Defendants deny that plaintiffs have been damaged by reason of any breach of the defendants but allege that plaintiffs breached the agreement by failing to pay the balance and by repudiating the agreement (T. 23 to 27).

The case was tried before Judge Ray Van Cott, Jr. sitting without a jury on September 16, 1949. After all the evidence was in the court stated the plaintiffs had not sustained their burden of proof on the question that defendants had breached the contract and in its judgment dismissed the case no cause of action (T. 121, 32 and 40).

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

The Court erred in the following particulars:

1. In dismissing the case.
2. In concluding that defendants did not violate the terms of the oral agreement between plaintiffs and defendants.
3. In not giving judgment to the plaintiffs.
4. In making the following finding as included in finding III.

“That it was a part of said agreement that when plaintiffs paid defendants the sum of \$9,000.00 for an undivided one-half interest therein, that the parties would then enter into a partnership agreement, the terms and provisions of which would be then discussed and settled. . . . and that the said \$9,000.00 should be paid to defendants on or before November 15, 1948.”

5. In making finding IV “that at no time was there an agreement between plaintiffs and defendants that plaintiffs were to pay the sum of \$50.00 per month on and after November 15, 1948.”

6. In making those parts of findings V and VI to the effect that the \$9,000.00 should be entirely payable "on or before the 15th day of November, 1948."

7. In making finding VII that "on and after the 1st day of August, 1948, the plaintiffs and defendants operated said farm as a joint enterprise . . . applied the net proceeds therefrom to the expenses of operation and divided equally the balance."

8. In making the following part of finding VIII: "That on and after November 15, 1948, the plaintiffs failed, neglected and refused to pay the balance of said purchase price of said half interest."

9. In receiving in evidence Exhibit "1." After defendants' counsel offered in evidence said Exhibit, counsel for plaintiffs asked Mr. Young, one of the plaintiffs, as shown on pages 108 and 109 of the transcript:

"Q. Mr. Young, this proposed Exhibit "1," under what circumstances was that received?

A. Well, Elvis Hansen, he wanted me to take and write down what I had taken, make arrangements for him to pay me the four thousand dollars, so I wanted to be fair and I deducted everything that I had received—money for the rabbits and pigs and all—and added on the money that I had paid out; that is, for grain and things of that sort, and then deducted that from the four thousand, leaving three thousand six hundred and some odd dollars. That was up to December 31st.

Q. Was that done in an attempt to compromise and get together and settle.

A. Yes, I tried again and he wouldn't even come up to the house.

Mr. Young: (counsel) I object to this on the grounds it is an attempt to prove a compromise settlement which is not proper in the case and object to the exhibit.

Mr. Elton: I will submit it, your Honor.

The Court: The objection will be overruled. It will be received. Exhibit "1" will be received in evidence."

ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE CASE.

It appears beyond any question of a doubt that defendants are indebted to the plaintiffs in an amount in excess of \$4,000.00 as shown by the testimony of all the witnesses. The parties had entered upon a partnership agreement. Elvis Hansen, the defendant, admitted it (T. 148, 149). The defendants' answer admitted the \$4,060.00 was paid by plaintiffs to defendants. Then there were numerous other items that were put into the venture by plaintiffs in the nature of work, cash and materials (T. 85 to 90). Although the whole thing was a rather loose and informal affair (T. 92) the plaintiffs put substantial amounts of money into the venture. If the parties never understood each other as to the exact moment when the balance was to be paid or when the deeds were to be drawn or the partnership papers drawn, should the court have left the plaintiffs out on a limb? The defendant, Elvis Hansen, said he was not willing to go ahead with the deal (T. 151). The plaintiffs were always willing to go ahead with the deal by paying either the \$50.00 per month, as they thought the agreement was, or by paying the whole amount of the balance

to make up the \$9,000.00 as soon as they could get together in drawing up the papers so they would be protected (T. 162, 163, 165). The amended complaint as amended at the time of trial alleges plaintiffs are now and have at all times been ready and willing to go ahead with the deal (T. 16). Even though the court did not feel entirely satisfied that defendants had breached a contract, it still could have given judgment to render equity and justice in the case. Plaintiffs' prayer asks for \$5,145.93 judgment, . . . "*and for such other relief as to the court may seem proper in the premises.*" If that part of the prayer is not a mere irrelevant and redundant statement, then it must mean exactly what it says. "For such other relief" was placed there so that if the court thought that the relief we asked for was not proper under the evidence, then it could give plaintiffs any other relief "as to the court may seem proper in the premises." The plaintiffs believe there was a breach by the defendants and set up in the complaint facts which they thought constituted that breach and set up various items of account and call them damages. The defendants came to issue with plaintiffs on those various items of account. They presented in evidence the reasonable rental value of the apartment where plaintiffs are living on defendants' property, the fact that they were entitled to credits for work they put into the venture for use of their truck, etc. (T. 137, 138, 107, 108, 109). Counsel for defendants has contended that all the facts that could have been presented in a dissolution of partnership case were presented, or could have been presented in this case. That being the case, then the court erred in not giving plaintiffs the benefit of the general relief clause.

In the case of Pomponio vs. Larsen, 251 P. 534 (Colo. 1926) we copy the following from the syllabus:

"Formal distinctions between actions in law and suits in equity are abolished and only one form of civil action now exists; *all the pleader needs to do is to state the facts*, constituting his cause of action or defense, where they relate to the same subject matter, and the court will grant relief regardless of the prayer."

To practically the same effect is Malmberg vs. Baugh, 218 P. 975, 62 Utah 331 (1923). There the court stated it would not permit forfeitures of inequitable amounts; also Moran vs. Knights of Columbus, 151 P. 353, 46 U. 397; Section 101-1-2 of U. C. A. (1943) provides for but one form of civil action and Section 88-2-2 of U. C. A. (1943) provides that rules of equity shall prevail.

The surrounding circumstances in this case show that Mr. Young was stating the truth when he said: "I was to pay him the money, the full amount, when the house was sold, and if the house wasn't sold by the time the six months was up, I could get some money and pay him \$50.00 a month on the balance until we got the house sold" (T. 69).

The house wasn't sold and he paid defendants \$4,000.00 before the six months were up.

2. IS THE CONCLUSION THAT THE DEFENDANTS DID NOT VIOLATE THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT ERROR?

Plaintiffs claim that the preponderance of evidence shows they would not cooperate with plaintiffs in getting agreements

reduced to writing. The evidence shows that at all times, even up to the time of trial, plaintiffs have been ready, able and willing to go ahead with the deal (T. 165). As already stated defendant, Elvis Hansen, said on the witness stand that he would *not* go ahead with the deal. If there were any refusal to complete the deal at either the \$50.00 per month or by paying the entire balance, it was because defendants would not cooperate in getting papers drawn up so plaintiffs would be protected (T. 162). Defendants promised to have papers drawn up when plaintiffs paid the \$4,000.00. After the \$4,000.00 was paid, defendants put off drawing the agreements and finally talked the Youngs into waiting until November 15, 1948, without any security whatsoever for the money they had advanced. Naturally when defendants did not hold to their word in getting together on a written agreement at the time of receiving the \$4,000.00, the plaintiffs did not want to be taken again for another \$5,000.00. In that event they would find themselves without security on \$9,000.00 plus other amounts they had put into the venture. They only wanted the papers to be drawn up, so the whole transaction of paying the rest of the money and getting the deed, bill of sale and partnership written agreement would be done concurrently (T. 62, 65, 66, 68, 110, 162, 163, 165). Elvis Hansen said he would not get the contract drawn up (T. 122). When asked: "Are you willing to go ahead with the deal?" the defendant, Elvis Hansen, insisted on the answer, even though his counsel objected and he said:

"A. I am willing to answer the question, and the answer is 'No.' "

That is exactly how he felt about it. That is exactly how he felt about it from the time he went to his lawyer in Murray about November, 1948. After that visit with Judge Allen by Hansen Mrs. Young said, "Some way or other it just didn't work out." (T. 122). No doubt Judge Allen told him a partnership of that kind could not work out, and probably advised against it. But rather than have the courage to face the Youngs (it had gone on for about six months and they had already spent the \$4,000.00 they had received) the Hansens decided to let it drift. About then it was that Mr. Hansen wanted to buy the plaintiffs' share of the pigs for \$125.00, which Youngs would not sell, but which Hansen later sold for \$600.00 and refused to account to the Youngs (T. 72, 73). When Youngs refused to sell their interest in the pigs late in November or early in December, 1948, the defendants started to make trouble. The defendants then got into trouble between themselves, and by February, 1949, Mrs. Hansen told Youngs she was getting a divorce from Mr. Hansen (T. 123).

Mr. Hansen said he was not going to do anything about making up the papers until the \$5,000.00 balance was paid. Then he was asked the question: "And what assurance did they (plaintiffs) have that you were going to do that?" (give them a written agreement).

"A. My word.

"Q. Your word and that is all?

"A. You betcha." (T. 148).

There never was any agreement inferentially or expressly that plaintiffs would pay the \$9,000.00 cash to defendants with

the understanding defendants were to take their own time about having agreements and deeds drawn up after such payment was made.

Plaintiffs feel that when defendants refused to cooperate with plaintiffs in having the necessary papers drawn up to protect them in their investment, as it was originally intended by the parties, that defendants violated said agreement.

3. Plaintiffs adopt the argument under assignment of Error 2 for this assignment of Error 3.

4. IN MAKING THE PART OF FINDING III AS STATED IN ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 4.

There is not any evidence that the \$9,000.00 was to be paid before the parties would enter into a partnership agreement. As has been hereinbefore stated, they were already engaged in a partnership. Also, it does not appear in the evidence that "the \$9,000.00 should be paid to the defendants *on or before* November 15, 1948." These findings are not supported by the evidence. The best evidence to support the last finding is that of Mr. and Mrs. Hansen, when they said the money was to be paid "on or *shortly after* November 15, 1948." (T. 144, 146, 155). It stands to reason that if the house had not been sold by November 15, 1948, that they would not have the money immediately. It would take some time to negotiate deals to get the money even though the agreement was that the whole amount was to be paid. Young offered the \$5,000.00 right after November 15, 1948, and offered the \$50.00 a month many times (T. 98, 99, 101, 102, 110).

Assignment of Errors 5 and 6 were argued in Number 4 above. We, therefore, adopt that argument for these two assignments of error.

7. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NUMBER 7.

The plaintiffs and defendants started their partnership arrangement in May, 1948, and they did not divide the profits equally. Finding VII is in error since there is no evidence to support it. The evidence of plaintiffs and defendants alike show it was started in May. It is true that plaintiffs did not move there until August 1, 1948, but from May until that time the plaintiff, Mr. Young, had been going to the farm every day to do what he was supposed to do under the partnership agreement. There was money on the rabbits, as well as the \$600.00 the defendants took, that was not divided. No accounting was given to the Youngs for the \$161.37 for lumber and materials they purchased for the farm, for saw, trailer and many other things (T. 127, 85 to 90).

8. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NUMBER 8.

There is no evidence to support the finding that "on and after November 15, 1948, the plaintiffs failed, neglected and refused to pay the balance of said purchase price." This is borne out by Elvis Hansen's testimony that he refused to go ahead with the deal. All along from November 15, 1948, to and on the day of trial the offer was made by plaintiffs to pay the balance in any way the defendants wanted it, provided they would give them written papers of some kind for security at the time the money was paid. Clearly, then, this is an erroneous finding. At the end of the case the court said, "I can't

tell which one of them is telling the truth . . . I don't know which one of the men is telling the truth . . . I am in a position where I don't know which one is telling the truth" (T. 169). If that be the case, then how can he make these findings?

9. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NUMBER 9.

This was clearly an attempt on the part of both parties for a compromise settlement. Hansens asked the Youngs to give them a statement of what they would settle for. The Youngs cut it down as far as possible so they could have a fair chance to settle the difficulty. "Exhibit "1" was given to the Hansens by the Youngs as a statement of what they would take as a rock bottom settlement so there would be no further trouble between them (T. 108, 109). Compromises are encouraged by the courts, and for that reason they are not to be received in evidence as admissions. (Vol. 1—Jones on Evidence—Fourth Edition, pp. 545-6).

We feel that the judgment of the lower court should be set aside and a new trial granted.

Respectfully submitted,

GAYLEN S. YOUNG,
Attorney for Plaintiffs and Appellants
1002-07 Boston Bldg.,
Salt Lake City, Utah.