1950

Russell W. Young and Saba O. Young v. Elvis Hansen and Bonnie Hansen : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

The questions on appeal, therefore, are as follows:

- (a) Was there substantial evidence to sustain the findings of fact?
- (b) Did the court err in its conclusions of law therefrom?
- (c) Did the court err in its rulings with reference to admitting evidence?

At the outset it is well to remember that this is an action at law for breach of contract, for money damages therefor, and that as such the findings of fact of the trial court are to be sustained if supported by competent evidence. Counsel for plaintiffs seems to base his appeal

upon the erroneous idea that inclusion in his prayer of the stock phrase, "and for such other relief as to the court may seem proper in the premises" has the magic effect of transforming it into an equity case; that on this appeal this court should review the evidence and decide that the trial court should have believed his clients; that the facts were as testified by his clients (in spite of the fact that the trial court did not believe their evidence as against that of defendants); that the trial court or this court should become attorneys for plaintiffs and tell them how to proceed by some action of some kind, or how to amend their pleadings in some hoped-for retrial of this case, so that they as contract violators can get some money damages from defendants who did not violate their contract. That, in substance, is the purpose and hope of this appeal.

In this connection it will be observed that the defendants never declared a default in the contract up to the time of trial. It is not a case involving an improper declaration of default and forfeiture. And as Judge Van Cott stated, (R. 169), all that plaintiffs had to do, in order to get all that they bought, was to make a legal tender, as distinguished from the lip tender that they testified to, and which defendants denied, and then demand their deed and if they didn't get it sue for specific performance. Instead of that they wanted their money back plus damages for breach of contract. This the trial court refused to give them and the evidence supports the judgment.

Let us now proceed to consider the alleged errors.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND IN
FAVOR OF DEFENDANTS, NO CAUSE OF ACTION.

Appellants' first point is that the trial court erred in rendering a judgment "no cause of action" on the complaint for breach of contract; and that under the prayer for "such other relief as to the court may seem proper in the premises" the trial court should have proceeded to treat the case as a proceeding in equity for dissolution of a partnership, and, upon that basis, give plaintiffs some money judgment against defendants.

In effect appellants are asking this court to tell the trial courts of this State that the pleadings mean nothing so long as you include in your prayer a demand for general relief. That, of course, is not and never has been the law. The pleadings define the issues to be tried and limit the power of the court. In fact, a judgment which has no foundation in the pleadings, or goes beyond the pleadings, is a nullity.

Cooke v. Cooke, 67 Utah 371, 248 Pac. 83:

"We, of course, must assume that the court made its order upon and within the issue presented by the petition and that it did not go beyond it. It matters not what court acts. Every court must acquire jurisdiction from its record which every court must have and keep and which binds the court; and there is no principle better established than what is not juridically presented cannot be juridically decided. Just as elemental is it that pleadings are the juridical means of investing a

court with jurisdiction of the subject-matter to adjudicate it and that a judgment or decree beyond or not within them is a nullity, for the court is bound by its record. These are immutable elements.”

Stevens & Wallis v. Golden Porphyry Mines Co.,
81 Utah 414, 18 Pac. 2d 903:

“It is of course familiar doctrine that the plaintiff cannot recover upon a different cause of action from that which is alleged, and that he must recover according to the allegations of his complaint; that courts cannot make the complaint for one thing stand for a different thing. In other words, the recovery must be *secundum allegata et probata*, and as was stated by Mr. Justice Swayne in the case of *Washington, A. & G. R. Co. v. Bradleys*, 10 Wall. 299, 303, 19 L. Ed. 894, that ‘allegations and proofs must agree’ and that ‘averments without proofs and proofs without averments are alike unavailing,’ and that the judgment must conform to the scope and object of the pleadings.”

Had the trial court, upon a complaint for money damages for breach of contract, entered a decree in equity for dissolution of a partnership which both parties alleged did not then exist, and upon that basis give a money judgment against defendants, such judgment would have had no foundation in the pleadings beyond the issues presented by the pleadings, and a nullity.

Neither party alleged that the partnership had been formed and that the property belonged to the partnership. Plaintiffs were not to have a half interest in the property until they had paid the full \$9,000. Plaintiffs

alleged that it was an oral contract for purchase of a half interest in the property and demanded damages for breach of the contract. They alleged that the partnership was to be formed after the purchase price was paid. Defendants admitted the original contract, denied that it had been modified, denied that defendants had breached the contract, and alleged that plaintiffs had themselves breached the contract as alleged in the answer. The defendants further alleged that in the meantime the parties had operated a joint enterprise, contributing equally to the expenses and sharing equally in the net proceeds, after payment of the expenses. This the trial court found to be true. Payment of the purchase price of the half interest was a condition precedent to the formation of the partnership, which was to be the relationship of the parties after plaintiffs had paid for their half of the property. There was ample evidence to sustain the finding of the trial court on this issue.

Nor is the evidence to the contrary. Appellant refers to the statement of defendant Elvis Hansen (R. 148) wherein he said, in answer to a question of counsel for plaintiffs, as follows:

“Q. He was to take care of the hogs?”

“A. It was a partnership.”

A fair reading of the entire line of questioning shows that counsel was asking as to whether there was a division of responsibility in the doing of the chores and work about the place. The answer was merely the method used by the witness to state that in the doing of the work there

was no division. Each was doing and responsible for helping with all of it. On the following page (R. 149) the witness clearly stated that the agreement was that the partnership agreement was to be drawn up after the remaining \$5,000 was paid.

Also it will be observed that (R. 149) the Hansens had consulted Judge Allen of Murray about drawing up the papers to effectuate the deal; that he requested Mr. Young to see Judge Allen or have his attorney do so, but Mr. Young refused to do so. This was in January or February. Notwithstanding the fact that the November 15, 1948 payment had not been made by plaintiffs no default had been declared by the Hansens and notwithstanding the fact that some disagreements had arisen, the Hansens were willing to give the Youngs everything they were to get, if they would pay for it. But the Youngs did not want to go ahead with the deal. Instead they wanted their money back, plus damages for a purported breach of a purported modified contract; and so instead of going ahead and completing the deal they chose to file a suit for money damages. (R. 101)

Plaintiffs' whole idea, in the allegations of their amended complaint, in their theory at the trial, and on this appeal, is that because they paid \$4060 on the purchase price of something that Mr. Young didn't want in the first place and wanted less after they had tried it for a few months, that they should be entitled to their money back as damages. In order to do this they concocted the idea of a modification of the agreement and then alleged that defenants had breached the agreement as modified.

The alleged modification is silly in the extreme. It is no wonder the trial court refused to believe that by the modification the Hansens agreed to convey the half interest for \$4,000 and then let the Youngs pay the balance at the rate of \$50 per month, when the contract called for them to pay the full \$9,000 by November 15, 1948. The Youngs testified that they had the money and could have paid the balance. Why didn't they do it then? Because they didn't want to put any more money into it. They wanted their money out—not more money in (R.101—Testimony of Mr. Young).

Their amendment stating that they were willing to pay the balance was made at the time of trial. It was a last minute change of mind on the part of the Youngs—after they had repudiated the agreement themselves and had brought a suit for money damages for breach of contract. The Hansens were perfectly within their right in saying that they felt the Youngs had materially breached the contract and that they, by their breach, had absolved the defendants from the obligations of the contract.

The Youngs are not the only ones in the world who have bought something which they felt that they didn't want after they had made a partial payment on account. That is a common experience with most of us. Nor are they the first to try to get their money back after changing their minds. Most people who change their minds on those things find it difficult to get out of the obligation to pay the balance. But if they succeed in this lawsuit they will be the first litigants in history to obtain

damages for their own breach from people who were not guilty of breaching the contract and who were ready and willing to go ahead with the contract right up to the time the suit was filed.

Let us hear Mr. Young speak as to what his attitude was early in the year 1948 when the Hansens were trying to get him to go down to see Judge Allen :

“Q. Now, early in 1949, you were making demand upon the Hansens for your money back, were you not?

“A. Yes.

“Q. You demanded a note and mortgage upon the farm, did you not?”

“A. Yes.”

Counsel for appellant seems to be imbued with the idea that everyone who puts money into a proposition, regardless of the contract, is entitled to get his money out of it on some theory, regardless of the pleadings and evidence. All you have to do, according to his idea of law, is show that you paid in some money and then bring an action, regardless of the type, and then insert in the prayer a demand for general relief. From there on the trial court or the appellate court is supposed to take over as attorney for the plaintiff and give you something back, on the basis that the code has done away with the difference between law and equity, and something good should result. That, in effect, is what counsel for appellant is proposing to this court.

There were no allegations in the complaint invoking the equity jurisdiction of the court, nor was any attempt made to state any cause of action in equity. It was purely and simply a cause of action for breach of contract. The necessary incidents of the agreement were alleged by both parties, the alleged breach by defendant and the claim for damages, and the alleged breach by plaintiffs. Those were the issues framed by the pleadings. The trial court found that plaintiffs had not established their case and ordered a judgment "no cause of action". Appellants say the court was in error.

In an action for breach of contract a judgment "no cause of action" simply means that the plaintiff has not proven his case. This court in the case of *Mace v. Tingey*, 106 Utah 420, 149 Pac. 2d 832, has directly ruled on this question wherein it said:

"This brings us to the last assignment of error: that the verdict is contrary to, and not supported by, the evidence. *Of course a verdict for defendant 'no cause of action' need not be supported by any evidence at all unless the answer is a confession and avoidance—one which puts the full burden of proof on defendant.* Is the verdict contrary to the evidence? Generally the donee has the burden of proving a gift. *Blackburn v. Jones*, 59 Utah 558, 205 P. 582; *Ward v. Ward*, 94 Or. 405, 185 P. 906. But when an action is brought to recover money alleged to have been loaned by plaintiff to defendant under an oral contract, and defendant claims the money was a gift, the plaintiff has the burden of proving the alleged oral agreement to repay. *Payne v. Williams*, 62 Colo. 86, 160 P. 196. Ordinarily there is no presumption against a gift. *Jackson v. Lamar*, 67 Wash.

385, 121 P. 857. There was here no witness who testified directly as to the transaction. Plaintiff produced witnesses, beneficiaries under the will, or relatives, who testified that defendant told them the money was a loan and that she should have signed a note. The so-called 'dead man statute,' Subdivision 3 of 104-49-2 U.C.A. 1943, was invoked by plaintiff to prevent defendant testifying as to what actually occurred when the money changed hands. Defendant, as a witness however, denied making the statements attributed to her by plaintiff's witnesses. She offered a witness who corroborated her denial that she had stated the money was a loan; another witness testified that deceased had told him she had given defendant the money. Evidence, some phases of which we have discussed in connection with other questions, was offered by both sides relative to the relationship between deceased and the beneficiaries under the will; also between deceased and the defendant. *There was a direct conflict in the evidence as to whether the transaction was a loan or a gift. The question was properly submitted to the jury. If found for defendant, no cause of action. The verdict is not contrary to the evidence.'*

Of course the case at bar does not rest on failure of proof on the part of defendants. There is competent, affirmative evidence to support the findings and judgment.

The trial court disposed of all of the issues raised in the case and presented by the pleadings. Now defeated on the action, pleadings and the case presented, and all of which was chosen by them, appellants seek by this appeal to present another matter (whatever it is) without issues or evidence. *Miller v. Johnson (on Rehearing),*

43 Utah 468, 134 P. 1017. Appellants further set up certain facts as the gospel truth but it is evident from the judgment that the trial court failed to entertain that view. As claimed by appellants, respondents did come to issue with them upon the various items, not of account as now they are designated but of damages, and appellants failed in their action.

The relief in any action must be consistent with the issues presented and the case made and even under the liberality of the Code a plaintiff may not plead his action, frame his issues at his own election, and then upon failure, without amendment, abandon the case made and framed by him and recover in a different form of action than the one he selected. This has been consistently true since the time of the adoption of the Code. *Davis v. Utah Southern R. Co.*, 3 Utah 218, 2 Pac. 521.

IS THE CONCLUSION THAT THE DEFENDANTS DID NOT VIOLATE THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT ERROR?

The trial court concluded as a matter of law that defendants had not violated the contract.

This conclusion of law was based upon Findings of Fact III, IV, V, VI, VII and VIII, wherein the court found that the contract had *not* been modified as alleged and claimed by plaintiffs, and wherein the court found the facts showing full and substantial performance by defendants of all that they had agreed to do, and wherein the court found that the plaintiffs themselves breached the agreement.

Defendants were to do nothing further with reference to conveying the title until plaintiffs paid the balance.

What are the breaches of contract alleged in the amended complaint?

(a) Refusal to make the deed, bill of sale and partnership agreement in July, 1948, upon payment of the \$4,000.00.

(b) Refusal to make the deed, bill of sale and partnership agreement in November.

(c) Refusal to make the same in February and repudiation of the agreement by demanding that plaintiffs move.

All of these allegations of breach were predicated upon the theory that defendants breached the alleged modification. In other words, they claimed that defendants refused to make the deed upon payment of \$4060.00 and permit plaintiffs to pay the balance at \$50.00 per month.

When the trial court found that no such contract existed as claimed by plaintiffs, it follows as a matter of course that defendants could not and did not violate a provision which did not exist.

It certainly cannot be contended that there is no evidence to sustain the finding that the original contract was not modified.

Defendants testified that in January and February, in fact before that, they hired Judge Allen of Murray to prepare all of the papers upon the assumption that plaintiffs intended to pay the balance, but plaintiffs refused to go see Judge Allen or have their attorney see him. They would have none of it. They had in mind getting their money back.

Defendants denied that plaintiffs had ever made any tenders of money to them.

Defendants not only were willing to go ahead with the deal up to the time of filing the action, had never declared any default, but had engaged a reputable lawyer to prepare the papers. That is the very essence of good faith. They were more than indulgent of the failure of plaintiffs to pay.

But when someone in default in payments brings a suit against you for return of his money, plus damages, repudiates the contract and claims that you made a contract that you did not make, all for the purpose of getting out of a deal and getting his money back, that is a different matter. Defendants' testimony that he was not willing to go ahead was his evidence as to his attitude at that time—not his attitude before the suit. Under the law he was justified in regarding the suit for breach of contract, coupled with the failure of plaintiffs to pay or tender payment as a material breach of the contract, which it was.

Whether plaintiffs have any other, different, or further remedies in the light of the present situation is not

before this court for decision. The sole question is: did defendants violate the contract as proven so as to make them liable in damages? The evidence supports the judgment and decision of the trial court that they did not.

**THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE PROPERLY
SUPPORTED BY THE FINDINGS OF FACT.**

It is fundamental that the support of a Conclusion of Law rests within the Findings of Fact. It is submitted, and it is apparently conceded, that the Findings herein support the Conclusions of Law.

**THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT ON QUESTIONS
OF FACT WILL NOT BE DISTURBED UNLESS
MANIFESTLY ERRONEOUS.**

Appellants' points 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of their argument are all directed at certain Findings of Fact as made by the trial court. It has been firmly and definitely settled over a long period of time by this court that the trial court may determine the facts and judge the credibility of witnesses, and, if supported by any substantial evidence, the finding of fact will not be disturbed on appeal. *DeCorso v. Booth*, 97 Utah 145, 91 Pac. 2d 449; *Farrel v. Cameron*, 98 Utah 68, 94 Pac. 2d 1068; *Romney v. Covey Garage*, 100 Utah 167, 111 Pac. 2d 545; *Yowell v. Occidental Life Ins.*, 100 Utah 120, 110 Pac. 2d 566. As a matter of fact in *DeCorso v. Booth*, *supra*, this court stated that this rule is so well settled "that citation of authorities should not be necessary."

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